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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
LOS AMNGELES COUNTY

GARY M WaAGNER, Case No. SC 110 354
{(JAMS Case No
Plainiff, 1220042150)

Versus

GRAND BAHIA DEL LOS SUENOS 5. DER.L. DE
C.V., PAUL JENNINGS, JOSEPH FRYZER,

Diefendants.

STATEMENT OF DECISION _
{CCP Section 632; California Rules of Court 31590
(June 19, 2012)

Introduction. In this action plaintift Gary Wagner asserts claims against the
defendants named above arising out of a transaction in which Wagner sold rights in
a real property development and received in return a profit participation and other
considerstion, all as further detailed below,

The undersigned is the referee appointed under CCP 638 by the court’s arder

of January 13, 2011 to hear and decide all issucs in the case.



The complamt ariginally asserted canses of action for breach of contract,
breach of the covenant of good faith, breach of fiduciary duties, end fraud. Wagner
alleged that defendants Jennings and Fryzer were alter egos of the corporate
defendart Grand Bahia. Ruling on defendants” demurrer, the referee held that the
claims for breach of fiductary duties and fravd were defective. The referee granted
plaintiff leave to seck to revive those claims at completion of discovery, hut
plamtift did not seek to do so.

Trial on the remaining claims was had for three days commencing October
31, 2011, Lawie Howard appearing for plaintiff, and Jules Kabat and Robert
Gookin appearing for defendant. Testimony was taken from four wilnesses, and
extensive docomentary evidence was received. Following the hearing the parties
submitied briefs, and oral areument was had December 19, 201 1.

On Febroary 23, 2012 the referee issued his tentative statement of decision.
Among other things, the tentative decision found the defendants to be the
prevailing parties for purposes of an award of attorneys fees and costs. Defendants
were invited to submit an application for fees with appropriate supporting
evidence,

There followed an interval during which the parties prepared and submitted
brieling regarding the attorneys” fee issues, and Mr. Wagner also filed his
olsjections to the tentative statement of decision. Oral argument on these issues was
heard April 9, 2012,

The referee has now fullv considered the post tentative decision briefs and
argurnents, including the ohjections to the tentative staternent of decision, and Mr.
Wagner's argument that the cvidence established an anticipatory breach by the
defendants, unpeaching the conclusions in the tentative decision, including the
decision that defendants were the prevailing parties. The following addresses all of

these issues, modifying in some respects the substantive conclusions, but affirming
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the conclusion that defendants are entitled fo attornevs fees and costs as provailing
parties, and addressing and setting the appropriate quantum of fees and costs.
Statement of the Case. The claims arise out of or are related 1 a

Participation Agreement (Agreement} dated April 17, 2008 concerming real
property situated in the "Bay of Dreams” in the State of Baja California near La
Paz, Mexico, [Ex 1], The claims are pleaded in a complaint filed in Los Anpeles
Superior Court on November 15, 2010, before the matter was referred to the
complaint’s allepations are summarized as follows:

Plaintiff is Gury Wagner, currently a resident of Colorado. Defendants are:
Grand Bahia Del Los Suenos 8. De RL. De C.V, (Grand Bahia), a corporation
organized under the laws of Mexico; Paol Jennings, and Joseph Fryzer. Parties to
the Agreement include Mr. Wagner, the Wagner family trust, Rancho De Cosia

Fryzer are not parties to the Agreement, but are alleged i the complaint to be
owners of all of the stock of Grand Baliia, and to be the alter egos of that entity.
The complaint alleged fraud and breach of fiduciary duty by Jennings and Fryzer,
who are alleged to be the alter egos of defendant, and sought punitive images and
consequential damages.

Wagner and his partner Games purchased the property, 4,000 acres of

Crames developed plans for a residential resort development with homes, a golf
course, & hotel, a restaurant, an airstrip, and other amenities. Defendants Jenmings
amd Fryzer became inferested in the development around 2007, Initially they
purchased lots: later they offered to purchase the development from Wagner and

Crames.



The Agreement recites that Wagner and his trisst are owners of interesis in a
project to develop the property. The crux of the Asreement is that Wagner
transfers his interests to Grand Bahia, i exchange for "certain econoimc benefits”™
and “certain project amenities”. Importantly, Wagner also iz fully relicved from all
further liability respect to the project and from any futare capital calls for the
project.

The Agreement specifically provides that: the individual owners of Grand
Bahia, including Jeanings and Frvzer, are to have no personal Hability: no party
owes fiduciary duties to another; panitive damages may not be recovered, nor lost
profits nor other consequential damages.,

The Agreemernt provides for ansfer to Wagner of six lots, including

members 70, 126, 127 153, 154, and 102 [Participation Agreement, Exhibit 1,
paragraph 9.] Subparagraph a of paragraph 9 specifies that "all of the infrastructure
improvenments to cach scssion fot will be included at [Grand Balia's| cost.. " No
provision of the Agreement specifies when the infrastrocture is to be finished, nor
what infrastructare is required. Wagner testified that the practice on the project
was 1 mstall infrastructure when someone started building a home. And, he
admitted that no homes arc being built on any of his lots, nor are there plans to
build.

Transfer of the lots 1s to ocour "as soon as is practicable, but no later than the
Deadline.” [9d] The "Deadline” is a defined term reguiring submission to the
Mexican government by June 30, 2008 of all documentation needed to effect the
transfers. This deadline was several times extended by consent of the parties, so
that the final agreed deadline was July 15, 2008 [Ex 21, Defendants claim they
timely subniitied all documentation; Wagner says onby subdivision information,

arid not other documentation, was filed.



The Agreernent’s "time of the essence” provision affizes a $130 per day
penalty to delays bevond the "deadline”. An exception allows extension of the
deadline for each day of delay caused by circumstances beyond the parties”
coptfrol. Any delay damages accrued are to be paid only by way of an addition w or
subdraction from Wagner's capital account.

The Agroement confains an integration clause {paragraph 33]. Disputes are
requived to be submitted o a jodicial reference [28c¢], and costs of the reference as
well a8 reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs shall be recovered by the prevediing
party [28d].

The other provisions of the Agreement relevant to the dispute include the
following:

Wagner 15 to receive a "Participation Interest Payment” of $2 million
"eommencing with the closing of the first lot sale to ocour after the transfer of lots
8,910, 42, 45 and 46, 47 and 48" [Exhibit I, paragraph Sa). Once this sam is due
and unpaid, Wagner 13 further entitled to repayvment of the balance of his original
and second capital account. But, these amounts are to be paid only from net
proceeds of lot sales, initially at the rate of 5%,  increasing to 10% after the
interests of one Mr. Brito are paid off. No time limit is specified for completion of
performarnice of this obligation [Exhibit 1, par, 5b, ¢l.

Subparagraph 9b makes Grand Bahia solely responsible for the costs of
transferring these lots, including title insurance costs. The Agreement reguires that
Wagner's lotg be staked. [9f]

Wagner is entitled under the Agreement to a free membership in the golf
club to be established, and to free rounds of golf on the course, as well as other
perquisites, including use of hotels and spas constructed on the project, vae of the
atrport, and water usage. Wagner urged at trial that his rights in this regard were

superior to those of other Tounders and owners. For this he relied principally on



two memoranda created years afier the agreement [Exhibit 61, 627 Bu, the
wrilten integrated agreement, i paragraph 17, repeatedly states that his righits are
the same or equal to those granted to other founders (paragraph 17, “same
perquisites and privileges as those granted to the other founders...™),

The Agreement requires Grand Bahia to construct a retaining wall and a
protective wall at the 15th Tee on the golf course, adjacent to one of Wagner's lots.

The Agreement is o lengthy and detailed ingtrument. The same law firms
representing the parties in this lawsuit represented them in the negotiation and
drafting of the Agreement.

The project has been an economic fadlare. Putting aside the failed sale of the
project to Manane Estrella, discussed in detail below, ondy one or two lots have
been sold since Wagner sold the project to Jennings and Fryzer. Jennings and
Fryzer offered evidence that they have personally invested §70 million in the
project.  In the Fall of 2008, not long after the parties entered into the agresment,
the deep recession of 2008 began. Reports of criminal vielence in Mexico are
quite widespread. Defendants offered evidence that an airplane was stolen at
sunpoint from the awport near the project, probably sometime in 2006,

Of the eight lots identified in paragraph Sa, all were in escrow at the time of
execution of the Agreement. [t is undisputed that the parties to the Agreement
intended the procecds of the sale of these lots to provide working capital for the
project, and s exempied them from availability for a profit participation to Mr.
Wagner. Of these lots, only lot 45 remains unsold. This lot was in escrow t© be
sold to s Hal Smith at the time of the Agreement. Smith had deposited $500.000 in
earnest money, and agreed to pay a total of S1.8 million for the lot. That sale
eventually fell through afier vears of efforts to push it to completion.

Daring its ownership by Jennings and Fryzer, the project has steadily lost

large quanfities of money. The weight of the evidence shows ongoing expenditure



of $4010,000 per month. This expense, uncompensated by lot sales or project
revenues, led o efforts by Jennings 1o sell the project, beginning around August
2010 or carlier. Sale to one Jeff Dingman was considered, and 2 memo dated
August 15, 2010 [ Exhibit 62] listed and detailed the obligations owed to Wagner
and the other founders of the project, and proposed they relinguish most of their
rights under the Agreement in order to facilitate the sale to Dingman. Thus
founder Oliver was scheduled to give up a paved road with underground utilities,
an airport hangar lot, two golf memberships, a boat storage lot ete, Similar
concessions were asked of Mr. Games. It was proposed that Wagner receive
$250,000, but otherwise give up his various rights, infrastructure, solf
memberships airport rights, homeowner dues waiver, ete. The memo doesn’t
repudiate the obligations-——it acknowledges them and proposes most of them be
given up.

Jenning’s Angust 30, 2010 e-mail to Games, Wagner and others forwarded a
memoerandum [Exhibit 212] prepared in anticipation of 2 meeting to discuss the
decision to sell the project. The memorandum began by referring to the difficals
geonomic conditions, the absence of revermes from lot sales or other activities, and
the need 1o bring 1o an end the “S400,000 per month burn rate.” The meme
explaned that withowt a sale of the project it would be necessary to shut down the
golf course and/or to obtain the cooperation of founders to forgo thewr perguisites
and fature economic participations. The memo went on to offer “Decision
Chedees” or “Options.”

The Dingman trapsaction under consideration in the Avgust memoranduam
did not matertalize, but another potential buver was found. On October 8, 2010,
Grand Bahia signed a letier of intent to sell the project to an entity called Manana
Estrella (ME) [Exhibit 5], The LOI specifically provided that it was not binding,

except for certain limited obligations. It further contemplated the preparation and



execution of a definitive agreement. That agrecment was not gigned until
December 34, 2010, [Exhibit 6, Manans Contract] and called for Grand Bahia to
sell a large portion of the project to ME, Tor a total price of about $18 muflion,
[Exhibit 6.] The Manana Contract required & $1.5 miliion deposit which Mafiana
funded with a loan in that amount from loe P . a long time employee of

Mr. Jenmings’s teleconumunications company. The balance of the purchase price

obligation was evidenced by two pronussory notes, Note A and Note B. The notes

provided that titie to the property sold would transfer upon full payment of the
purchase price secured by the Notes [section 2, exhibits 9, 10 | The original
deadline for pavment of Note A was in January 2011, with Note B 1o be paid in
Jumre 2011, These deadlines were several times extended, and no payment ever
was made on either note. Grand Bahis has advised that the Mafiana transaction is
dead and the property has reverted te Grand Bahia's ownership.

The Mafiana Contract contains an extensive list of nearly 60 “assumed
contzacts,” but not including the Participation Agrecment with Wagner in issue in
this proceeding. The Contract does acknowledge the pendency of Wagner's
lawsuit, and further requires defendant to indemnify buvers against claims or
obligations imposed in favor of Wagner under the Apreement. The Maflana
Contract also oblges the buvers to afford “VIP rights” to Wagner, Oliver, lennings
anl Fryzer, including 150 rounds of golf at 25% of the published rate, and reduced
landing fees and water fees.

Wagner testified that Jennings told him that, because the project had been
sodd, Grand Bahia would no longer honor its obligations to provide free golf, and
ether perquisttes. Grand Babia maintained this position on into the arbitration. For
example, its dennurer, in attacking Wagner's 7th count for declaratory relief, stated
in part “because the subject real property has been sold, there is no future condugt

o be declared ™



Jermings and Frvzer claimed in their 2010 tax returns that the project had
been sold, entithing them to 350 nullion in deductions for losses. Ms. Bussell,
contratler Tor the project, so testified, and acknowledged that with the sale to
Mafiana reversed, an amended tax return will have to be filed.

The parties dispuate whether lot 45 has been "transferred” within the neaning
of section 5a of the Agreement, thus ceusing Grand Bahia's oblipation to pav
Wagner & participation share from lot sales to ripen. Wagner points (o the tax
returns, and to several other contemporancous writings, as ovidencing that a
“transfer” has occurred. Grand Bahia counters that no transfer ocourred until title
was vested in Mafana, which could oceur only upon pavment of Note B-- an event
that has not occurred and s not going to oocur.

Wagner contends defendants breached by failing to procure title insurance in
connection with transfer of his lots. He offers, though, no evidence that he
atterapied to buy insurance, or to invoice or otherwise seek reimbursement from
detendants.

At the referee’s express request, Wagner supplied with bis post trial brief

{Exlnbit D) & damage recapitulation, which the referee summarizes as follows:

Actual Daneages

Descripiion

Participation lot 26 826,075

Participation ME bulk sale - ST5.000

Fatlure to consult before reducing lot 6 price TBD

Failure to install infrastructure Wagner lots | $1.942.425

Failure to provide title insurance : $12.000




| Fatlure to timely transfer lots

83,000

Failure to provide golf memberships

$750 GEH

Failure to mark ot corners

512 {)ﬁt}

Failure to build mprovements 15th tee

§33,134

Failure 1o provide free golf

$1.642

Failure to provide restaurant discounts

STIN

i Failure to provide golf memiberships

§750,000

Failure to provide airport privileges

TBD

?azh&m to invite Wagner to meefings

TBD

azim ¢to pmvuﬁa ’Emmf}m% statements

TED

F aﬂum te reguire ME to honor nb?matmm HE ‘a‘v agner

TBD

SUBTOTAL

$3,606,094

| Liquidated Damages

Delay in transferring lots

$370,000

Delay in mmfﬁ&mﬁ ﬂﬂ{z MSurance

51,878,000

| Delay in staking Wagner lot corners

$1.502,400

| Delay in improvements at 15th Tee

412,500

| Failure to clean up beach contamination

$128.550

| Failure to timely provide financial statements '08 to '11

§744.800

 SUBTOTAL

$5.236.250

T (}TA.L A{f” T'L?AL AE‘& D LIQUIDATED

§8,842 344

Hh




As can be seen, Wagner's summary double counts for failure to provide polf
club memberships, twice claiming $750,000 for this ftem. Various claimed jtems
of damages remain "to be determined”, though this submission was made afier the
evidence was concluded. Purther, the liquidated damages claimed constitute the
bulk of the damages. As to these, six of the seven items claimed duplicste items
for which actual damages are claimed. And, the liquidated damages are vastly
disproportionate to the actual damages claimed for these items. For example, actual
damage of $12,000 is claimed for failure to provide title insurance, but $1.8
million of hguidated damages is claimed for delay in providing title insurance.
Actual damage Tor Tailure to mark lot comers is claimed fo be 12,000, but
liquidated damages are claimed in the amount of $1.5 million,

DHscussion.

Parficipation Interests And “Trigper Lots.” Foremost among the several
breaches alleped, Wagner claims that the ME transaction has resulted in a transfer
of lot 45, the last unsold lot referred o in section 5z, so that Grand Babia is now
liable to give him his participation share from the proceeds of sales of subsequently
sold lots. (The Agreement does not use the word "trigger.” nor did the parties use
the term during negotiations or performance, but the parties have used this during
the hitigation as a convenient description of the effect of defendant™s contention

that selling the eight lots "riggered” the participetion obligations.)
b= Loz f‘ p = .

But, it is undisputed that the Manana transaction has been aborted without
any payments on cither under Note A or Note B. The Notes explicitly state that
transfer will occur only when full pryment is made. Section Sa of the Partivipation
Agreement requires the participation payvments only after gl of the eight lots there
identified have been “wransferred.” This construction is not only true to the liferal
language of the Agreement and the Mafiana sale documents. The underlying intent

of the Agreement was that Grand Bahia have the proceeds from the specified eight

11



lots as working capital before it was reguired to distribute or credit sales
participation shares to Wagner. This will not be finallv achieved unless and until a
buyer has pafd for lot 45, Further, it is typical in real estate fransactions that title is
not transferred until payment is made, and that is the way the Agreement and the
Maflana transaction are structured.

Wagner points to language in the Manana documents indicating a sale has
occurred, and to Grand Bahia's tax returns claiming a sale has occurred. Bu, the
documents uneguivacally require paviment of the Notes before title transfers, and
the practical reality is that the sale has not been consummated. Grand Bahia
concedes an amended tax return must be filed. The intent of the Agreement was
that Grand Bahia receive payment for the eight lots before the participation
obligatsons ripened. Wagner himself made only a small initial contribution, and
admatted freely in festimony that the business plan was to fund development from
Lot sales.

Wagner also argues he is emitled to a share of the $1.5 mitlion up front
payment by Manana. But, as urged above, his right to a profit share from lot or
bulk sales will not ripen antil Lot 45 is sold. He will be entitled to share in sales
afier that,

I and when a buver has padd for lot 45, Grand Bahia will have the
obligations in paragraph 5. Defendants have not actually breached paragraph 5.

Covenant of Good Faith. Wagner alleges that defendants deliberately
delayed selling lot 45 in order to deprive him of the benefits of the Agresiment, in
violation of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. There is not one tota of
direct evidence to support this claim--ne documents revealing such an intention, no
evidence of contemporanecus statements, no testimony. Forther, no reason has
been suggested &5 1o how this would benefit the defendants. There have been at

most one or two lot sales since the Agreement was signed, so that defendants have

[
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had no plausible motive to delay selling lot 45 1o deny participation benefits to
Wagner. Only with prospective sale of the lots i the Mafiana transaction did the
possibility of participetion payments m the near term materialize.

Wagner argues that defendants dragged out the sale of ot 45 to Hal Smith,
transaction in escrow when the Agreement was signed. But again, there i3 0o
direct evidence to support this, and defendant’s commercial incentives ran strongly
against . Smuth had contracted to pay 51.8 million for the ot, and deposited
300,000, Defendants were burning hundreds of thousandz of dollars eacl month
sustaining the project. Closing the Smith transsction woold have yvielded
immediate substantial cash o apply against these expenses.

By confrast, the obligations they allegedly sought to avoid, payvment o
Wagner of the participation interests under section 3a. were remote and contingent.
The section 53 obligation was limited to sharing with Wagner a small percentage
of net sale proceeds from actual lot sales. Wagner's putat ve share of the only lot
sold was a mere $26,000,  Lots were not selling. It is implausible that defendants
would delay consummation of the Smith transaction, and forge the inwnediate
substantial cash return, in order Yo deny Wagner 1% of the net proceads from ot
sales which were not occurring and were unlikely to oceur in the face of the
sreatest recession since the Great Depression.

In short, the weight of evidence is against Wagner's claim for breach of the
covenant of good faith,

Transferred Lots. The Agreement required defendant to transfer six lofs to
Mr. Wagner, and attached a series of additional requirements to this obligation.
Wagner atlepes breach of & number of these abligations.

Documentation Deadline. Mr. Wagner claims the defendants were g year

late in submitting the required docwmentation for the lot transfers, and secks

53,000 in actual damages and $570,000 1n houidated damages for the alleged

I3



breach., Grand Balua's Presiderst My, Fricdman testified that defendants miet the
extended deadline, citing Exhibit 157, an e-mail from Guillermo Pereznejara

{Cirand Bal

&, corporate affairs) and Exhibit 73, a spreadsheet Friedman testified
was prepated by Guillermoe showing by lots the dates of "subdivision request to
municipality”. Wagner's evidence is insufficient 1o carry his burden to show
breach.

Moreover, the Agreement provides {par. 17} that any lquidated damages
owed are to be added to Mr. Wagner's capital sceont {or subtracted if owed by
Mr. Wagnery and distributed in accordance with the Agreement. i.e., in pavments
from lot sales, if there are any. Inasmuch as the "trigger” for participation
payments has not yet been pulled, and further, there have as yet been no
conswmnmated lot sales vielding proceeds for pavout, defendants do not have, and
could not have, any carrent obligation to pay liquidated damages.

Infrastructure. Wagner alleges that defendants have breached the

ebligations in section 92 to include, at Grand Bahia's cost, "all of the infrastructure
improvements” for the lots transferred to Wagner under the Agreement. He asks
specific performance of the obligation, or in the alternative $1.9 million in
damages.

The Agreement specifies no time limit for completion of the infrastracture,
and the parties” conduct demonsirates an implied agreement that infrastrociure be
provided only as the project progressed. Infrastructure is expensive. and there is no
practical reason to extend paved roads or eleciricity to lots which have no homes
upon them. Wagner testified that the practice at the project was to instsll
infrastructore when building started. He offers no proof that defendants have
dechined to install infrastracture to any lot he owns which has & home upon it or
has plans for constrection of a home upon i1, or is in prospect of being sold to a

third-party desirous of building a home upon it.
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Where a contract fails to specify the time for performance, courts imply a
reasonable time. The reasonable time for performance of defendants’ infrastructure
obligation will be the time when the infrastructure becomes reasonably necessary
to Wagner's ability toe use or sell his lots--a time that has not yet arvived.

Defendants have not breached the infrastrocture obligation,

Title Insurance. Section b of the Agreement specifies that Grand Bahia is

solely responsible for the cost and expense of transferring the lots to Wagner,
including the cost of title insurance. Wagner claims that defendanits have breached
this promuse by fatling to procure the required insurance. He asks actual damages
of $12,000 and liguidated damages of $1.8 million.

The Agreement obliges defondants to bear the cost of title insurance. This is
typical in real estate rransactions, where the selier usuallv pays for the title
insurance. But, the Agreement does not reguire defendants to procure the
insurance. The prospective insured is the buver or transferee, who is also the
appiicant for the insurance. The seller has no insurable mterest iy property it has
sold. Mr. Wagner offers no evidence that he applied for or purchased title
tnsurance or requested defendants to pay for such insurance. In the absence of such
gvidence, there 18 no beeach,

The Agreement specifies (section 97) that within 90 days after

its date Grand Bahia will mark the comers of each of Wagned's lots. Mr. Wagner
contends that defendants breached this obligation, and asks for actual damages of
S12,000 and Hguidated damages of $1.3 million.

Inn response, defendants cite: an e-mail from Wagner's withdrawn expert,
Cratg Winburn [Exhibit 322], stating that before Winburn left the Bay of Dreams
i May 2010 all Wagner's properties were properly staked: an open items list
[ Exhibit 57] showing the lots staked as of June 16, 2008; an e-mall from Fredman

1o Wagner dated in October 2008 [ Exhibit 44] confirming the lots were correctly

LF



staked. Winburn subseguently ¢-mailed Wagner stating he wasn't sure the lots
were 1Y correctly staked [Exhibit 2507
Wagner fails 1o prove a breach of this provision by a preponderance of the

evidence,

ip. Under paragraph 95 Grand Bahia agreed to give
Wagner a golf course and club membership transferable to the buver of each of the
six lots without cost to Wagner or the buyer. Under paragraph 17¢ it agreed to pive
Wagner and family free memberships in any project clubs. Wagner alleges breach
of these provisions and claims damages of 375,000, based on the S150.000 price
tor a membership in a fully developed golf resort at Quarencia.

As to the memberships attached to lots, Wagner's claim is grematare. He
offers no evidence of sale of any of his lots te a buyer to whom a membership
conld be awarded.

Ag o the family memberships, the introductory section of paragraph 17
explains that Wagner s entitled only to the same memberships as other founders
and owners. He offers no evidence that other founders and owners have been
given golf club memberships, The explanation for this iz straighiforward: there is
no golf club at the project. There is a playable golf course, but it is incomplete,
lacking restrooms {except portable toilets), golf cart pathways, clubhouse,
restaurant, and other facilities. There bave been no lot sales to fund construction of
these fundamental golf club amenities.

Wagner claims damages egual to the cost of membership in fully built
developed golf clubs elsewhere in Baja, which are not remotely comparable to the
unfinished course at Grand Bahia.

If and when there is a golf club a1 the project, Mr, Wagner will have the

rights given him in the Agreement. For now. the claim is entirely premature.
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5. Grand Bahia agreed that "as spon as practicable” it would
develop a plan to construct a retaining wall for the 15th hole on the solf course,
and submit that plan to Wagner for his review and input. It further agreed to
construct an additional rock wall o shield the adjoining property from golf balls
and to clean up rock and soil deposited on the beach ag a result of erosion from the
Tee. It is undisputed that thus far the walls and cleanup have not been performed.
Wagner claims breach, and seeks actual damages of $33,000 and liquidated
damages of 5412 300,

Grand Bahia offers undisputed evidence that it submitted a plan to Waener
and solicited his input. As to the unfinished work, it points to the contractual

#

qualifier "as soon as practicable” and argues that the funds for the work were to
come from lot sales, just as were the funds to otherwize complete the golf course.
It is not practicable to complete the work until lots are sold and Tunds received.
This position is consistent with the practice of the project prior to its acquisition by
the defendants. Mr. Wagner conceded in deposition testimony cited in defendanta
opening statement that neither he nor the other founders had "ponied up" monies
for golf course construction, and that instead they had used money from lot sales.
"As that money came bt we use that money to fund the golf course. And we
basically would go as far as we could go with the money that were able 1o
stimdate through those ot sales.”

The referee finds there is no breach of the obligations respecting the 15th

ahits, The Agreement confers upon Mr. Wagner certain aundit rights.
In preliminary hearings concerning this right the referec ordered defendants to
provide Mr. Wagner with timancial information relevant to his participation rights,

and defendants complied.
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Mr. Wagner alse sought a sweeping audit of all the finances of Grand Bahia,
seeking to challenge defendants” claims about the amounts they have spent
sustaining the project, and to attempt to show that defendants had mismanaged the
project and should have earned a profit. The referce rejected this "tmputed profits”
clatm as legally unsustainable, and My, Wagner abandoned it at trial.

Mr. Wagner will retain in the future those limited andit rights endorsed by
the referee.

breaches of the Agreement.

g8 Mr. Wagner has asserted yet other subsidiary
The referee has explained m detail in the foregoing
opinion his grounds for rejecting the variety of primary breaches Mr, Wagner has
claimed. The other breaches claimed are likewise rejected as wnfounded and/or

premature, or both

.. Above and bevond the defects i Mr, Wagner's
liability theories, detailed above, the manner of is damage presentation warrants
great skepticism and justifics rejection of his claims. Putting aside the double count
For 5750.000 of golf club memberships, the effint to predicate this item of damage
upon the cost to join a fully developed, finished golf club, when this project had no
such thing, 1s indefensible. So are the claims on numerous #toms for huge
liguidated defay damages in the face of side-by-side evidence that the actual
damages associated with the same elaimed breaches are orders of magnitude lower.
Liguidated damages are permissible if they represent & reasonable estimation of the
potential damages seen at the time of contracting. The huge disproportion between
the actual damages and the liquidated damages claimed here strongly sugpests the
liguidated damages are unreasonable

Also wroubling is the inclusion of damage items "T'BD" after the evidentiary

hearing s concluded.



Damages are the "bottom line” in civil cases. A judge is justified in rejecting
claims presented, as here, with a cavalier disregard for the actual harm that has
been caused.

. Mr. Wagner attempts to attach lability to My, Jennings and Mr,

Fryzer, despite the express provision in the Agreement that they should have no
personal liability. He has, in any event, fatted to establish or even to offer
substantial proof of those elements necessary to pierce the corporate veil and
establish personal lability. Thus, there is no showing that Jennings or Fryvzer:
dispensed with corporate formalities, co-mingled sssets or funds with the
corporation, or otherwise ignored the corporate legal separatencss of Grand Bahia,
Further, there is mo evidence that any fraud or injustice would flow from honoring
the Agreement and the corporate form of Grand Bahia and declining t©o plerce the
corporate veil

Alter ego is an equitable doctrine, and it is appropriate to cormment upon the
equities here. The Participation Agreement at the center of this dispute relieved
Mr. Wagner of all futare Labilities for a project that has since disastrously failed,
The defendants have invested as much as 570 million of their own money on the
project, a figure that contrasts with a relative handful of dollars that Mr. Wagner
spent upon it at the outset. The photographs show a beawtiful oceanside location,
and the referee understands why both Mr. Wagner and the successor owners of the
project should love the location and aspire fervently for success of the project. Bax,
the Agrecment makes Mr. Wagnes's "upside” dependent upon the economic
success of the project, Thus far, instead, the project has been an econormc
catastrophe- and one borne by the defendants, not Mr, Wagner. His claims are

thus tot onty legally unfounded but equitably unsustainable.

e, In a recent letter Wagner's counsel advised

that Wagner had "just heard” that the ME transaction may not be dead, and that
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Roy Oliver has agreed to purchase lot 45, The source of this information was not
sdentified. Wagner's counsel asked defense counsel to respond to these rumors,
and to provide an update on the status of the ME transaction and the possible sale
of lot 45, Counsel sugpested that reopening the evidence might be necessary,

In response, defendant's counsel in writing reaffirmed that the ME
transaction is dead and that lot 45 has not been sold, and is not subject w an
agreement of sale.

Wagner has not identified the source of the alleged new information, nor
made a formal motion to reopen trial, nor shown grounds do so.

Objections To Tentative Statement OF Decision: Anticipatory Breach, Mr.

Wagner filed objections to the tentstive statement of decision, as permitted by the

eral arguinent, was that defendants repudiated the Agreement when they contracted

to sell the project to ME without binding that emtity to honor all the obligations to

wener under the Agreement,

Under scrutiny, this objection fails. Wagner cites the Angust 2010
documents [Exhibits 62, 212] a5 evidence of repudiation, but these documents do
not support this claim. They show Jennings requesting that Wagner and others

consent to give up their perquisites and financial participations in light of the

project’s desperate financial chowmsiances, in order to facilitate sale of the project
to Jefl Dingman, But they do not show repudiation. It is not unusual or sinisier in
a fransaction with large losses o see the big losers pressuring lesser investors o
accepl concessions. The Aupust memoranda asked for this, and sugpested the
alternative that Grand Bahia would need to close down the polf course. But the
memorandum did not definitely repudiate the Participation Agreement. Nor did
defendants single out Wagner for concessions. Each founder was also asked.

The transaction with Mr, Dingman under consideration was never consummated.
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Further, the ME transaction which followed at the end of the vear had not
ripened into an arguable repudiation at the time Wagner filed this suit in November
2010, By that tine Grand Babia had not entered info a contract with ME, onlv the
October 2010 nonbinding letter of intent. The LOT [Ex 5] did not arguably
transgress of repudiate Wagner's rights under the agreement and did not revesl any
infent to water them dowsn, Wagner sued in mid-November 2010, and the ME
definitive agreernent was not signed until the end of December. Thus there was not
an anticipatory bresch al the time Wagner sued.

Wapner's brief opposing the defense maotion for attorneys fees rhetforically
asks “what other options [to filing suit] did Wagner have in the fall of 20107 The
answer is, he had several options. He could have sccepled the cconomic reality
confronting the project, and agreed to concessions, as Oliver and Games apparently
did, recognizing that Mr. Jennings and Mr. Fryvzer had suffered losses orders of
magnrude larger and had saved Mr. Wagner from similar losses by taking the
project off his hands and assuming his labilities. He could have waited until there
was an actual sale to ME to file suit. It is far from clear that the ME contract
entatled an anticipatory repudiation, but it is clear that the letter of intent did not.

Further, Mr. Wagner could have fited a messured demand in arbitration
seeking only a declaration of rights and honoring the contractual Himits disclaiming
fiduciary duties, individual lizbility, and punitive and consequential damages. His
briel argues he was inferested in “less expensive, less cumbersome” proceedings,
but this 18 belied by the pull-out-the-stops complaint he filed, which added fraud to
the other claims barred by the Participation Agreement. And then, in the same
anlimited warfare mode, he pursued for an bnterval the theory that defendants owed
b fens of milhons of dollars for mismanaging the project. He abandoned this
theory, and the fraud claims, before trial, but continued fo the end to pursue an

egregiously milated damage claim.
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There is a strong mference that, but for Wagner's suir, ME would have
assumied the obligations to Wagner under the Participation Agreement. After all, it
assumed 60+ other contracts to which defendant was a party [Exhibit 6, schedule
fr.f]. Further, defendant agreed to indemmnify ME against any obligations o
Wagner which might be imposed by the court interpreting and enforcing the
Agreement. The referee can reasonably infer that # was Mr. Wagner's lawsuit
which caused omission of the Agreement from the list of contracts assumed by
ME.

Throughout the course of this proceeding defendants, rather than repudiate
the Agreement, steadfastly affirmed #. Their defense has been that Agreement
does net confer the rights Wagner contends for (Lo, participation in profits prior o
sale of the B “trigger” lotg, installation of infrastructure before lot sale proceeds are
available to fund) or that project economics don't permit performance of some
ohligations (creation of a true golf club).

Two additional points further undermine Mr. Wagner's objection.

First, in filing a lawsuit seeking to impose personal Hability for breach of
fiduciary duties upon Jennings and Fryzer, and for consequential and punitive
damages. in violation of the express contractual disclaimers of the ri olit 1o bring
these claims, Wagner himself breached the Agreement. The referee knows of no
legal authority nor reason why the disclaimers could be argued to be
unenforceable. Mr. Wagner has supplied ne such reason. The disclaimers were
negotiated between business people represented by counsel. Mr, Wagner simply
chose to ignere them when e filed his suit. This prior breach excused defendants
from any obligation they otherwise had to assure that Wagner's rights were
protected in the ME definitive agreement.

Second, the ME definitive agreement reguired that Wagner be granted the

seome VIP rights as Oliver, Games, Jennings and Fryvzer. Although Wagner has



repeatedly argued that he was entitled o special, additional rights above and
bevond those granted to other founders, the integrated written Participation
Agreement shows otherwise. The perks and privileges of founders are detailed in
numhered paragraph 17 and a series of alphabetical subparagraphs. The
introductory numbered paragraph states that Wagner “will receive the same
perguisites and privileges as those granted fo the other founders, developers,
owners and customers”. The modifier “same rights” appears repeatedly in the
alphabetical subparagraphs, Mr. Wagner's attempt fo rely on subsequent
correspondence fo show otherwise {8 barred by the Agreement’s intepration clause

and the parol evidence rule. Thus, although the ME contract shrunk Wagner's VIP

rights, the requirement in the Agreement for equal treatment with other founders
was honored. This shows that defendants did net intend to single Wagner out for
different treatment, but only to share the burdens of this *fire sale” of the project.

Declaratory Belief, Consistent with the foregoing discussion, the court will

enter a judgment with the following elements, including declaratory relief:

-Wagner shall take nothing by his claims for monetary damages:

-the Participation Agreement will be declared to be in full force, with the
following constructions imposed by the referee based on the evidence received at
trial and the velevant law:

~Civand Bahia has no present obligation to share in the proceeds of lot
sales on the Participation Agreement, but an obligation consistent with the terms of
the Agreement will arise following sale of lot 45;

-=(rand Bahia will work in good faith and in a commercially
reasonable manner to sell lot 45;

~(irand Bahis has no present obligation to construct infrastructure on
Mr. Wagner's property, but that obligation will arise at such time as installation of

the infrastructure becomes necessary for the use of one of Mr. Wagner's lots or the



tenants or owners of lots, and sufficient proceeds from lot sales are available to pay
for the nstallation of the infrastructure;

--Crrand Bahia shall remain obligated to provide founder member perquisites
to Mr, Wagner, 88 stated i pavagraph 17, on the same terms as provided other
founders angd members:

--Cirand Bahia shall be obliged to reimburse Mr. Wagner for the reasonable
cost of title insurance. if and when he procures it

-Mr. Fryzer and Mr. Jennings are not the slter egos of Grand Bahia and not
liable to Mr. Wagner for its obligations;

--Cirand Bahia shall remain obligated to provide golf club memberships as
required in the Agreement, if and when such memberships are offered 1o other

tounders and merabers,

Prevailine Partv. In the tentative statement of decision the referee found

defendants to be the prevailing party entitled to recover attorneys foees and costs.
Wagner argues that, because he will recover 2 measure of declaratory relief]
enforcing provisions of the Agreement in his favor, the referee should find that
neither party prevals.

Had Wagner pursued the litigation as a measured quest for a declaration of
his rights, perhaps accompanied by a realistic damage claim for what appear to be,
thus far, at most very modest damages, the referee might have been inclined to
agree. But that is not the way the case was prosecuted. Thus:

--Mr. Wagner sued before a viable claim for repudiation arose;

~Wagner pursued claims for breach of fiduciary duty, alter ego,

consequential damages, and punitive damages, despite the fact that the Agreement,



the source of obligations he seeks to enforce, explicitly disclaims the right to these
remedies:

—Wagner declined defendant’s early suggestion for samual retention of an
independant auditor and instead insisted or hiring his own, then attermnpting a wide-
ranging financial mguiry ostensibly to justify & clabm for tens of millions of dollars
based on defendams” alleged mismanagement of the project—- a claim that has only
the wealtest legal basis. Wagner ultimately did not call his accountant as a witness
at trial, and abandoned thizs legal theory:

~Wagner’s suit aggregated with his argoably meritorious clabms, the
additional meritless clatms described and rejected above, which his own damage
analysis demonstrated o be trivial in the context of this case--for example, the

staking and title tnsurance claims;

-Wagner originally sued for frand., The referce sustained a desnu
offered the opportunity to amend later to include evidence discovered to suppont
these elaims--an offer he never took up:

-=Wagner grossly inflated and exaggerated his damages, as explained above.

I the apgregate, Wagner's approach understandably cansed defendants w
feel they had to treat this suit as a multi-mitlion dollar threat and to expand their
efforts aceordingly in its defense.

The relevant legal standard addresses the prevailing puarty inguiry by asking
the question “who attained their litigation objectives? Here, Wagner largely
fatled to obtain his, while defendants largely have successfully defended the
infegrated Agreement as governing the relationship.

Mr. Wagner argues that some of his claims were merelv found premature,
rather than without merit. But premature claims did not need to be litigated now,
and defendants had to expend large sums to seeure the determination that the

claims were premature,



The referce reaffirms his tentative finding that the defendants are the
prevailing parties.

Fee Anabesis And Award. Defendants seck $836,000 in aftorneys” fees,

challenges to this claim.

First, he urges that Jermings and Fryzer ave not parties to the Agreement and
therefore are not entitled to recover under its attorney fee clause. This argument is
defeated by the Calitornia Supreme Court's decision in Repnold s Metal Co v
Alperson (1979, 25 Cal 3d 124, in which, on closely similar facts, the court held
that two individual defendants not parties to a contract with an attermev fee clause,
but seed as alter egos, were entitled to recover fees because they would have had
fee liability if the suit had succeeded.

Second, he asserts he should not have to bear attorneys fees incurred
parsuing insurance coverage for defendants. Bat such fees are 2 normal and
foresecable consequence of bringing a lawsuit. Further, they are a potential benefit
to a plainniff, as they represent a potential source of funds for settlement recovery if
the plaintift wins.

Third, Wagner complains that an excessive number of timekeepers, fourteen,
worked on the case. But, of the total of SROOD00-+ claimed in fees, 93%. or
5760,000, is for the work of attornevs, and 98%; of this sum is for the time of fwo
lawyers, lead counsel and name partoer Jules Kabat (541 1,000, and associate
Robert Gookin ($338,0003. The referee bas reviewed many fee spplications. This
distribution is typical: most of the work is dome by 2 or 3 lawvers, with a scattering
of time by numerous other timekeepers. The referee finds no fault with the siaffing
of the casc. The hourly rates clatmed {$600-650 for Kabat, $350.395 far Gookin}

are well within the reasonable range in the community,



Mext, Wagner argues that fees should be reduced for unsuccessful work,
pointing, for example, to the fact that some arguments raised by defense on
dermurrer were rejected-—ong instance is the obiection in the demurrer to the aler
ego claims. Ultimately, though, the arguments prevailed, and raising them early is
a normad and reasonable course for defense counsel.

Wagner argues that much of the tme billed for associate Gookin should be
disallowed, as partner Kabat made all the arguments at court appearances and trial
and did all the witness examinations. There are soveral rejoinders. From long
experience with commercial cases the referee can stiest that it is customary to have
a second, junior lawyer assist the lead lawyer, especially in cases that are document
intensive, Further, the justification for this practice increases as the stakes grow
larger. As noted elsewhere, Mr. Wagner persisted to the very end in claiming high
seven-figure damages.

Mr, Wagner's next argument is that defendants achieved in the decision
herem a result only slightly better than they could have achicved by settlement had
they accepied the mediator’s proposal. At the threshold this arpument probably iz
barred, as defendants urge, by the confidentiality rules susrounding mediation.
Even were that not so, Mr. Wagner's argument is unpersuasive. He urges that the
result differs from the medintor's proposal only in definitively establishing that the
obligation to shave in profits has not vet ripened. Respectfully, that is not entirely
breach not addressed or resolved by the mediator's proposal-—for example,
infrastracture, lot staking, title insurance, perquisites. The mediator”s proposal did
not constitute an evaluation of the case nor all its complexities, bat simply
represented an effort to fashuon a compromse resolution. Having thereafter heard

the trial, and assessed the ments of the parties” positions in & more fully informed



and deltberative way, the referce understands why defendants insisted on a
resolution more definitive than offered by the mediator’s proposal.

A final argument is that the amounts billed for the various tasks simply are
mare than they reasonably ought to be. For example, Wagner poinis out that during
the 6 weeks before the 3 day tnial the defense team billed 11.5 howrs every day, 7
davs 3 week. This amounts to two full seven day weels, or 160 hours, in
preparation for each six howr trial day. Here, Mr. Wagner's objection have some
migrit. The defendants and their lawvers were entitled to spend ag much time and
money as they chose to prepare the zase, but the reforee’s obligation to scrutinize
the tees claimed and award only reasonable fees includes assuring that the losing
party does not have to pay for the winner’s Maserati or Rolls Royee defense.

There is no precise yvardstick to guide an adjustment to address this issue.
The referee in his discretion reduces the fees to be awarded to $500,000, This
adjustment mitipates any argpument that Mr. Wagner 15 being required to pay for
his adversary’s premium legal services. The adjusted sum also meets a judee’s
reality check: if is proportional to the stakes in the controversy as Mr. Wagner
framed them and consistent with the outcome. Having asked for $8 million in
damages, and waged a sort of unlimited legal war, he should not be surprised at the
size of the fee award.

The referce alse awards JAMS fees as costs in the sum of §55,000
(defendants claim 562,000 in this category, but JAMS records show only the lesser
sum, including the additional time recorded today by the referee’s work on this
decision over the last week, as defendants’ share ) Also awarded are the $14.584 in
other costs claimed.

Judgment. Defendants are entitled to 2 judgment 1y accordance with the
foregoing, including an award of attorney's fecs and costs in the amouwnt of

8569584, and the declaration of the parties’ respective rights described above. A



form of judgment is execimed concurrent with this final Statement of Decision and
citowlated with it

The Case Manager, Christy Arcen, is requested to promptly serve this

Richard C Neal, Referee

Statement of Decigion on counsel.

Dated: June 19, 2012




Hon Richard €. Neal (Ret}
JAMS

07 Wilshare Blvd 46th Flr
Los Angeles CABO0T1T

213 620 1133

Feferee For All Purposes

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA
LOS ANGELES COUNTY

OARY M WAGNER, o
354

Pladmsidt, {JAMS Case No.
12200421503
Versus

GRAND BAHIA DEL LOS SUENOS S, DER.L.
DE C.V, PAUL JENNINGS, JOSEPH FRYZER,

Diefendants,

JUDGMENRT

The undersigned is the referee appointed under CCP 638 by the cowrt's
order of January 13, 2011 to hear and decide all iszues in the case.

The case has now been heard and decided. The procedural history of
the case and statement of reasons appear in the final Statement of Decision
dated June 19, 2012, The case is now ripe for entry of judgment.
Accordingly,

ITIS HEREBY ADJUDGED AND DECREED AS FOLLOWS:

Plaintift Gary Wagner shall tuke nothing by lus claims for monetary

damages, and those claims shall be dismissed with prejudice;




The Participation Agreement which was in dispute in this action is
deciared to be in full force, with the following authoritative interpretations
determined by the referee hased on the evidence received at trial and the
relevant law:

—-Defendant Grand Bahia del Suenos has no present obligation
i0 share in the proceeds of lot sales under the Participation A greement,
but an obligation consistent with the terms of the Agreement will
ripen following sale of 1ot 45;

~{irand Bahia will market lot 45 m good faith and sell itin a
comumercially reasonable manner as market conditions permit;

--Cirand Bahia has no present obligation to construct
infrastructure on Mr. Wagner's property, but that obligation will ripen
at such fime as installation of the infrastructure becomes necessary for
the use of one of Mr. Wagner's lots or the tenants or owners of lots,
and suiTicient proceeds from lot sales are available to pay for the
installation of the mirastructure;

--(srand Bahia shall remain obligated to provide founder
merber perguisiies to Mr. Wagner, as stated in paragiaph 17, on the
same terms as provided other founders and members;

«{3rand Bahia shall be obliged to reimburse Mr. Wagner for the
regsonahle cost of title insurance, i and when he procures it;

--Crrarsd Bahia shall remain obligated te provide golf club
memberships and perquisites as reguired in the Agreement, if and
when, and on the same terms as, such memberships and perquisites
are offered to other founders and members:

Defendants have not breached the Participation Agreement;



Defendants Joseph Frvzer and Paul Jennings are not the alter egos of
Cirand Bahiz and are not lHable to M. Wagner for its obligations;

Diefendants are the prevailing narties in the action and are entitled to
recover from plaindilT attorneys” fees in the amount of 350,000, arbitration
costs of 855,000, and othoer costs of 14,384,

Dated: June 19, 2012

Richard C MNeal, Referee



